Can we prevent Parkinson's disease?

Christine R. Swanson^{1,2}, Samantha L. Sesso¹, Marina E. Emborg^{1,2,3}

¹Preclinical Parkinson's Research Program, Wisconsin National Primate Research Center; ²Neuroscience Training Program, ³Department of Medical Physics, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

2.1. Defining Parkinson's disease (PD)

2.2. PD demographics

2.3. Cause vs. risks and mechanisms of cell death in PD

3. Increasing the odds of developing PD: Risk Factors

3.1. Aging

3.2. Genetics

3.3. Environmental factors

3.4. Head Trauma

3.5. Comorbidities

4. Searching for Neuroprotective Factors

4.1. Exercise

4.2. Food and dietary supplements

4.3. Caloric restriction

4.4. Nicotine

4.5. Anti-inflammatory compounds

4.6. Calcium modulators

4.7. Monoamine oxidase inhibitors B (MAOB)

4.8. Estrogen

4.9. Trophic factors

4.10. Other potential neuroprotective factors

5. Conclusion and perspectives

6. Acknowledgments

7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that affects 1 million people in the United States. Although the cause of PD remains unknown, a number of factors that increase the risk of developing this disease have been identified. Other factors that may prevent or slow down PD development and progression have also been found. In this review, we describe current basic, clinical and epidemiological findings on risk and neuroprotective factors and discuss how they can affect PD.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1. Defining Parkinson's disease (PD)

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is the second most prevalent chronic neurodegenerative disorder in the United States (1). Individuals with PD display decreased longevity and have a mortality rate three times higher than that of normal age-matched individuals (2). The pathological hallmark of PD is the loss of neuromelanin-containing dopaminergic neurons within the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) and the presence of fibrillary cytoplasmic inclusions, known as Lewy bodies, which contain ubiquitin

and alpha synuclein. As dopaminergic nigral neurons project to the striatum, the loss of these cells reduces striatal dopamine (DA). PD symptoms are typically described as motor ones, associated with dopaminergic nigrostriatal cell loss. They include resting tremor (mainly in the hand and forearm, (described as 'pill-rolling' type), bradykinesia (slowness of movement), hypokinesia (decreased amount of movement), rigidity (increased muscle tone) gait disturbances, and postural instability, all of which become more severe as the disease progresses (Table 1; 2,3,4,5,6). As PD pathology is not limited to the nigrostriatal system (7), non-motor symptoms, like arrhythmias and constipation are also observed (Table 1) Some investigators propose that the peripheral pathology is where PD starts (8). Dopamine replacement with levodopa remains the standard and often primary treatment for PD patients. In addition as PD progresses patients' response to this drug weakens and disabling side effects such as dyskinesias (abnormal movements) along with "on-off" motor fluctuations emerge (9).

PD is diagnosed by presenting two out of the three classical motor features (bradykinesia, rigidity,

Table 1. Parkinson's disease symp	otoms
-----------------------------------	-------

Motor Symptoms
akinesia (absence of normal unconscious movements)
decreased size and speed of handwriting
decreased stride length while walking
freezing (the inability to begin voluntary movement)
hypokinesia (reduction in movement amplitude)
hypomimia (paucity of normal facial expression)
Nonmotor Symptoms
addictions
anxiety
apathy (showing no interest or concern)
cardiovascular dysautonomia
constipation
dementia (especially in older patients)
depression,
drooling
falling asleep while driving
fatigue
genitourinary problems
hypophonia (decreases voice volume)
insomnia (chronic inability to fall asleep)
mania/hypomania (manifestation of bipolar disorder)
olfactory disturbances
painful or unpleasant sensations
pathologic gambling
personality changes
sexual disturbances
sleep apnea syndrome (temporary suspension of breathing occurring repeatedly
during sleep)
slowed cognitive processes
sudden uncontrollable somnolence (sudden drowsiness)
thermal dysregulation

resting tremor), a strong positive response to levodopa, unilateral onset, and the absence of any of the disorders listed in Table 2. In contrast to PD, parkinsonism is defined as a combination of any of the classical motor features resulting from an identified cause, including other disorders as listed in Table 2 (10). However, there is no definitive diagnosis of PD as only 80% of cases clinically diagnosed, after postmortem analysis have the neuropathologic features of both Lewy bodies and dopaminergic nigral neuronal loss (11).

Since PD is an insidious, multisystem disease, misdiagnoses and underdiagnoses are not uncommon (12). Neither presymptomatic diagnosis of idiopathic PD nor effective biomarkers of disease progression exists. Proposed presymptomatic diagnostic tools include assessments of genetic background, autonomic function, and olfaction (13, 14), either with or without *in vivo* imaging of the dopaminergic system. Changes in specific gene expression signals in the blood are being evaluated as potential biomarkers of PD (15, 16).

2.2. PD demographics

Approximately 1 million Americans have PD based on previous annualized age- and gender-adjusted

esearch (17). PD is more prevalent (number of individuals in a population who have the disease at a specific point in time) in North America and Europe than Asia and Africa (18). In a study investigating PD in a multiethnic population (17) the age- and gender-adjusted rate per 100,000 was highest among Hispanics (16.6 per 100,000), followed by non-Hispanic Whites (13.6 per 100,000), Asians (11.3 per 100,000) and Blacks (10.2 per 100,000). These findings suggest that the incidence of PD varies by race/ethnicity. The overall risk of PD increases with advancing age. Only 0.5% of the cases were diagnosed with PD before age 40 and 3.4% before age 50. Over 60% of the cases were first diagnosed between age 65-79 (17). Males are at a 1.5 greater risk for PD than females (19).

2.3 Cause vs. risks and mechanisms of cell death in PD

The cause of PD (what starts the disease) has not yet been identified. This is probably because rather than a single etiology, a combination of variables overtime may trigger the onset of PD. Epidemiological studies have identified several risk factors for PD (those that increase the chance of developing the disease). Genetics seems to have a role, as gene mutations have been found in familial PD. This line of research has shed light to the possibility that impairment of the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS), intracytoplasmic protein accumulation and misfolding can

Table 2.	Differential diagnosi	s of Parkinsonism

Idiopathic		
Parkinson's disease		
Symptomatic		
Drug-induced (neuroleptics, presynaptic dopamine		
blockers, certain anti-emetics)		
Hydrocephalus		
Metabolic (hepatocerebral degeneration, parathyroid		
disorders)		
Neoplasm		
Postencephalitic parkinsonism		
Post-traumatic parkinsonism		
Toxin (carbon monoxide, manganese, MPTP)		
Vascular parkinsonism		
Neurodegenerative		
Alzheimer's disease		
Cortical-basal ganglionic degeneration		
Dementia with Lewy bodies		
Multiple System Atrophy (olivopontocerebellar atrophy,		
Shy-Drager syndrome, striatonigral degeneration)		
Parkinsonism-dementia-ALS complex of Guam		
Progressive supranuclear palsy		
Hereditary Disorders		
Familial parkinson's disease		
Dentatorubral-pallidoluysian atrophy		
Huntington's disease		
Neurodegeneration with brain iron accumulation		
(Hallervoden-Spatz)		
Wilson's disease		
Spinocerebellar ataxias		
Other		
Psychogenic Madified with permission from (16)		

Modified with permission from (16)

lead to cell loss. Aging and environmental factors may also facilitate cell loss in PD through mechanisms of excitotoxicity, disturbed calcium homeostasis, inflammation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction or distressed energy metabolism. Evidence of these different cell death pathways have been found in the brains of PD patients (2, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25). Overall a certain pattern is emerging linking mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress to UPS impairment, intracytoplasmic protein accumulation, protein misfolding and inflammation, resulting in a slow destructive cycle of ongoing, progressive damage (26).

Promoters of cell survival for PD emerge as factors that have the capacity to counteract the mechanisms involved in neurodegeneration, ultimately affecting PD development and progression. Several factors that seem to decrease PD incidence have been identified and in many cases, are simple life style choices. This review will analyze current basic, clinical and epidemiological findings on risk and neuroprotective factors and discuss how these factors can affect PD development.

3. INCREASING THE ODDS OF DEVELOPING PD: RISK FACTORS

Risk is generally defined as the possibility of loss, injury, disease, or death. In this review, we define risk

factors as those that increase the chance (greater than in aged-matched controls) that someone will develop PD. Although epidemiologists cannot find a single cause of PD, studies have identified certain factors that increase the incidence of PD.

3.1. Aging

Old age has been identified as a critical risk factor for the development of PD (11), probably because the nervous system is affected by aging. Decreased extracellular brain volume and total brain weight are typically observed with increasing age (27,28). Aged-related declines in dopaminergic nigrostriatal function and motor behavior have been reported in normal human and non-human primates (29, 30, 31, 32, 33). Mild parkinsonian-like signs are commonly seen in the elderly (34, 35), although it should be mentioned that medical conditions such as arthritis or peripheral neuropathy can induce symptoms that resemble PD (34).

Cellular changes observed with aging may play a role in the neurodegeneration leading to PD (2, 4). Similar to PD, increased oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage seem to be part of the aging process (36. 37). Increased microglial activation, typical of PD pathology, is also observed with old age (27). This suggests that the aged brain is in pro-inflammatory state. In that respect, old primates show a rise in expression of antigenic markers of activated microglia including major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-class II antigen (an antigen significant in myelin; 28), CD4 positive antigen (27), and human leukocyte antigen-D receptor (HLA-DR; 38). Rodents also show an age-dependent increase in microglia expression in the brain (39). Microglial cell morphology is also affected by age, presenting cytosolic inclusions and hypertrophy of the cytoplasm. Since microglia are found in high density in the substantia nigra, their age-related dysfunction may affect nigral microenvironment increasing neuronal vulnerability to PD onset (40, 41).

Another age-related change that it is hypothesized to favor PD development is variation in cellular production of neurotrophic factors. These proteins are responsible for the growth and survival of neurons during development and for maintaining adult neurons (42, 43). Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF; 44), has been identified as a potent neurotrophic factor for dopaminergic neurons. Rodents show a decrease in striatal GDNF levels in aged animals compared to young ones (45). In monkeys with stable unilateral parkinsonian lesions (3 months after neurotoxin administration) no changes were observed in striatal GDNF levels with age (43). Gene expression of GDNF in humans is low or undetectable in normal and PD adult individuals (44). The role of GDNF in PD pathophysiology remains to be elucidated.

3.3. Genetics

A number of PD cases (5%) have been identified to be genetically related, inherited by mendelian traits (2, 3, 46) and have been grouped as familial PD. While they are similar to sporadic PD, in general they begin at an earlier age and present atypical features (3). Familial forms of PD have been associated to mutations on 10 distinct gene loci including PARK1 (SNCA), PARK2 (parkin), PARK3, PARK4 (SNCA), PARK5 (UCH-L1), PARK6 (PINK1), PARK7 (DJ-1), PARK8 (LRRK2), PARK10, and PARK11 (24).

Alpha synuclein is a protein found in the normal brain that it is believed to modulate synaptic vesicle and DA neurotransmission, vesicle trafficking and cytoskeletal functioning (2, 47, 48). Interestingly, alpha-synuclein is typically found in Lewy bodies (the pathological hallmark of PD) and its mutations are associated with familial early onset PD (49). Studies suggest that alpha-synuclein mutations (PARK1 and PARK4) decrease lipophilicity, which consequently promotes protofibril formation (protein misfolding), Lewy body formation and cytotoxicity (46). Linkage studies have revealed triplication of the alphasynuclein gene in some familial cases of PD, which suggests that accumulation of alpha-synuclein increases the risk of PD (51). Furthermore, alpha-synuclein aggregates inhibit functioning of the UPS, impairing detoxification and degradation of defective proteins (52). Consequently, this impairment creates a positive feedback mechanism whereby misfolded alpha-synuclein continues to accumulate and form aggregations increasing vulnerability to deleterious effects of other misfolded proteins (53).

Parkin, DJ-1, PINK1 (PTEN-induced kinase-1) are missense mutations that are found in autosomal recessive and some sporadic PD cases (2, 3, 24, 26). They are also thought to be involved in mitochondrial function and reaction to oxidative stress (46). Parkin and PINK1 use the same genetic pathway to regulate mitochondrial function, whereas DJ-1 functions as part of a separate pathway (54). The onset of Parkin-related PD usually occurs before age 30 (2, 3), is most common in familial, but is also found in sporadic PD cases (24). DJ-1 mutations account for only a small portion of the early onset PD cases, but is the second most frequent cause of recessive forms of PD after Parkin mutations (3).

In contrast to the Parkin, DJ-1 and PINK-1 genes, where mutation leads to loss-of-function and development of PD, the Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) gene mutation has been shown to increase its autophosphorylation and substrate phosphorylation. LRRK2 is part of the MAPKKK family, which is thought to function in a programmed cell death pathway. Postmortem cases of LRRK parkinsonism exhibit typical Lewy body disease consistent with the pathology of PD (46). Additionally, LRRK2 mutation carriers have characteristic nigral degeneration and are thought to display severe cognitive changes, along with exhibiting a more severe progression of PD (55). The most common mutation is Gly22019Ser, leading to frequent substitution in Caucasians, which explains 1-2% of cases of sporadic PD (46, 56). Pathogenic mutations of LRRK2 have recently been strongly linked to PD in certain populations (20-40% of PD in Ashkenazi Jews and north African Arabs) (57). Gly2019Ser is also an age-dependent mutation, which increases from 17% at age 50 to 85% at age 70 (46). The role of LRRK2 in modulating PD pathology is still a puzzle and researchers are continuing to elucidate the pathways of cellular stress, inflammation, and apoptosis, which mutations of this gene could be involved in.

3.4. Environmental factors

The identification of 1-methyl-4 phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridinium (MPTP), as a human parkinsonian toxin brought awareness to the role of environmental factors in the development of PD (58, 59). MPTP nigral toxicity has been confirmed in the lab and has been used to develop animal models of PD, which have become powerful tools for investigating PD (2, 4, 60). MPTP brain toxicity depends on becoming the electrically charged molecule, MPP⁺, a reaction catalyzed by monoamine oxidase-B (MAO-B). MPP+ is transported into dopaminergic cells by the dopamine transporter (DAT), where it interferes with complex I of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, affecting cell energy production and causing buildup of free radicals. (61).

MPTP was originally developed as an experimental herbicide chemically related to paraguat (2). Like MPTP, paraquat is a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor (4). In 1985, Barbeau and colleagues investigated the relationship between the use of paraquat and the incidence of PD and found paraguat use to be significantly associated with PD (62). The highest prevalence of PD was found in northern states, mid-Atlantic, upper midwestern states, and Pacific coast states which closely overlap with areas of highest use of pesticides. Follow up studies have found that occupational exposure to herbicides, insecticides (not with rodenticide or acaricide), is associated with as much as a 70% increased chance of developing PD than if someone did not use chemical killers (4, 15, 63, 64). Rural areas with farming and consumption of well water are associated with increased risk of developing PD (4). In that regard rotenone, a naturally occurring garden pesticide derived from the roots of tropical plant species, including lancepod, barbasco, and tuba plant, is commonly used as an insecticide and as fish poison (2, 4). Similarly to MPTP and paraquat, rotenone is a mitochondrial complex I dysfunction agent and in rodents it can induce dopaminergic nigrostriatal degeneration, abnormal posture and slowness of movement (2, 4, 60). Other groups of pesticides such as organochlorines, organophosphates, carbamates, and pyrethroids are associated with increased incidence of PD as well. Current research suggests that prenatal exposure to these environmental toxins may increase susceptibility to developing PD later in life (5, 65).

It is controversial by which mechanism prenatal exposure to an agent increases PD risk. A possibility is that exposure to a toxin that kills dopaminergic neurons, decreases the pool of DA cells and the plasticity of the system to respond to challenges overtime. Although this theory explains increased risk, it fails to elucidate disease progression. One alternative explanation is that the toxin, in addition or instead of inducing cell loss, alters the system homeostasis, locally increasing inflammatory cytokines which attracts activated microglia that produces nitric oxide (NO₂). In turn NO₂ increases oxidative stress, taxes energy metabolism, affecting mitochondrial function and so on. It is currently being studied whether women with bacterial vaginosis while pregnant may lead to a pro-inflammatory state in the fetus, which may make it more susceptible to dopaminergic cell loss after exposure to dopaminergic neurotoxins (30, 66). This concept is plausible as inflammation is a key finding in parkinsonian brains. Evidence for a possible role of chronic inflammation in PD development following infection is encephalitis lethargica (EL), also known as Von Economo's encephalitis. Post Encephalitic Parkinsonism (PEP) was first reported in 1917 during an epidemic of EL. DA depletion is exhibited in the zona compacta of the substantia nigra (67). PEP patients respond to levodopa, however as in PD, sensitivity decreases over time (68).

3.5. Head trauma

There are several studies indicating that head trauma substantially increases the risk of PD (69, 70, 71). In a retrospective study of 196 PD patients with agematched controls, there was a significant increase in the frequency of head trauma among PD patients than controls (70). One explanation proposed to account for this association is recall bias; that is PD patients are more likely to remember past head traumas than matched controls (11). However, laboratory studies have demonstrated that chronic head injury impairs energy metabolism, increases oxidative stress, and neuroinflammation, leading to nigrostriatal damage (11). This type of chronic head trauma may also explain why there is correlation between boxing and an increased risk of developing PD (71). Prospective studies are necessary to critically evaluate the association between head trauma and the risk of PD.

3.6. Comorbidities

PD comorbidities is an increasingly important topic as many diseases of interest such as type 2 diabetes (T2DM), Alzheimer's disease (AD), and cancer are on the rise. Like PD, they share risk factors, such as higher incidence in the elderly population. As they also present similar mechanisms of cell dysfunction and death it has been proposed that the different disorders maybe different manifestations of the same metabolic imbalance (26). Some of these disorders, as they may precede PD onset, have been proposed as risk factors for PD.

T2DM has reached epidemic proportions within the past forty years, and is associated with a variety of complications (72). T2DM is defined by insulin resistance, in which the pancreas produces enough insulin, but the body cannot use it effectively. Insulin is a hormone that is needed to convert glucose (coming from sugar starches or other food) into energy needed for daily life. In T2DM, inefficacy to use insulin means inefficacy to use glucose, which builds up in the blood. Like PD, T2DM is also common in aged individuals (73). Animal studies have reported that insulin can modulate dopaminergic activity, which is not surprising considering there is a high density of dopaminergic neurons and insulin receptors in the SN (74, 75). A decrease of insulin-receptor immunoreactivity and mRNA and TH mRNA in the SNpc was found in PD patients (74). In a large prospective epidemiological study with 633 individuals, a significant positive correlation was found between T2DM and the risk of PD (68). Diabetic patients exhibit parkinsonian signs such as postural reflex impairment-gait disturbance (73). At the moment, it is still unclear the mechanism by which T2DM increases PD risk. A possible explanation is that insulin dysregulation and inefficient use of glucose could affect cell energy metabolism and mitochondrial function, imposing oxidative stress, and inflammation.

AD is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder characterized by loss of cognitive function. Its cardinal pathological features include amyloid plaques and the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (76). AD, like PD, is more common with old age and T2DM is a risk factor. Since there is a high rate of misdiagnosis of both PD and AD, especially during early stages of both diseases, a diagnosis for the coexistence of PD and AD in an individual is even less accurate (77). This is complicated by the fact that a number of PD patients develop cognitive disorders as the disease progresses (78). Reports of the coexistence of AD with PD indicate increase in mortality (78). Pathologically confirmed cases of PD with co-existent AD pathology had a mean survival of approximately 4.5 years (78). There is evidence that AD and PD share many of the same molecular mechanisms of neuronal damage including oxidative stress and programmed cell death (79). Pathological evidence that supports comorbidity between PD and AD includes the presence of Lewy bodies in some AD cases, and the ability of alpha-synuclein to facilitate tau phosphorylation (77) which leads to fibrillary tangle formation.

Researchers are also examining the relationship of cancer to PD. Cancer occurs when alterations in cell physiology (self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, evasion of apoptosis, limitless replication, and angiogenesis) cause malignant growth (80). These cell mutations are more common with old age. Whether cancer increases or decreases the risk of PD is not clear. Mortality studies show a decrease in death of cancer patients with PD than those in the general population (81). Most cancers appear to be less common in patients with PD. However, there are a few types of cancer where the inverse relationship is true, including malignant melanoma (82, 83), thyroid (84), and breast carcinoma (85). PD gene mutations have also been associated with cancer. Parkin mutations are correlated with tumorigenesis including breast and ovarian tumors (80). DJ-1, not only is mutated in forms of PD, but is also an oncogene, which is overexpressed in carcinomas (86).

4. NEUROPROTECTIVE FACTORS

Neuroprotective factors are those that prevent or slow down neurodegeneration. A combination of epidemiological data and basic research is providing evidence of potential new ways to achieve neuroprotection for PD using noninvasive treatments and/or lifestyle choices.

As we have previously described, PD is a multisymptom, multi-system disease with neuropathological changes occurring in different areas of the central and peripheral nervous system (87, 88, 89). In that context, general or systemic neuroprotective approaches have a clear advantage compared to localized ones. Interestingly, as nigral cell loss is the most evident characteristic of PD, the main focus in PD research has been the SNpc.

4.1. Exercise

Emerging evidence suggests that physical activity may confer protective benefits for several neurological diseases, including PD (90, 91). Chronic physical activity has been associated with changes in neurotransmitter levels, the expression of endogenous neurotrophic factors, the growth of neuronal processes, and neurogenesis (90). In normal older adults, chronic physical activity has been shown to improve neurological health, increase the expression of neurotrophic growth factors, and have beneficial impact on depression, quality of sleep, and cognitive function (91). Although we cannot become younger and reverse the signs of aging, exercise has been shown to be the single most effective way to decrease or slow down the aging process (92).

Physical activity may have neuroregenerative and neuroprotective influences on the brain by stimulating the growth and development of new cells. The stimulation of these "self-repair" mechanisms may facilitate recovery after ischemic neuronal damage in the hippocampal formation, neurotoxic damage in the striatum, or traumatic brain injury (90. 91). During acute exposure to stress, exercise can mitigate several harmful consequences that are observable at different levels of function, including behavioral/emotional, immunologic, neural, and cellular levels (91). The intensity and frequency of physical activity seems to be important for effectiveness (91).

Given these neurobiological effects it is reasonable to hypothesize that motor activity may have preventive properties against neurodegenerative diseases (90). In that regard, animals challenged with DA neurotoxins that undergo intense physical activity, such as running, present reduced vulnerability of nigral neurons to oxidative stress (90). A prospective study of 143,325 participants (average age at baseline 63 years old) followed for 9 years showed a reduction in PD risk in the subjects that engaged in moderate to vigorous exercise (92).

As PD patients present motor impairments and balance disturbances, which increases the risk of falls or injuries, low impact exercise, like Tai Chi, are preferentially recommended (93, 94). Current evidence supports that any exercise is beneficial for PD patients with regards to physical functioning, health-related quality of life, strength, balance, and gait speed (95). New prospective studies are currently being developed to compare different exercise plans, including methods to facilitate high impact activities, such as assisted running for PD patients.

4.2. Food and dietary supplements

As oxidative stress has been associated with cell death in PD a number of studies have focused on the effects of antioxidants in food and dietary supplements. Compared to other fruits and vegetables, blueberries are one of the richest sources of antioxidants, containing vitamins E and C, flavonoids, carotenoids, and numerous phytochemicals that exhibit antioxidant activity (96, 97). Dramatic positive results have been seen in aged rodents that consume as little as a 2% blueberry extract supplemented diet (96, 98). In a rodent model of stroke, blueberry supplementation ameliorates cellular damage (96), and blueberries have been shown to increase neurogenesis in the aged rat brain (86). Similarly, in a rodent model of PD, animals fed with blueberry-and spirulina-enriched diets had higher levels of striatal DA than those not given the dietary enrichment (97). Dietary supplementation with strawberry, spinach, or blueberry extract has shown improvements in calcium homeostasis in aged animals (96). An in vitro study examining freeze dried acai, reported a high oxidative scavenging capacity for the fruit, higher than any fruit or vegetable tested to date (99). This suggests acai is a powerful antioxidant and may therefore be potentially neuroprotective against PD. Green tea (98) and ginseng (97) are also rich in antioxidants and are currently being evaluated as neuroprotective therapies for PD. Red wine (100), dark chocolate (101), and olive oil (102) are notable sources of the potent antioxidant polyphenols and considered neuroprotective candidates. Ginkgo biloba is a plant extract composed of a complex chemical mixture that exerts neuroprotective effects against models of mitochondrial damage and oxidative stress (103). It also protects dopaminergic neurons from MPTP neurotoxicity, as does nicotinamide (104). Acetyl-L-carnitine delays mitochondrial depolarization in response to a variety of stressors, including oxidative damage (105). Lipoic acid shows significant improvements in mitochondrial function and cognitive tasks (23).

One of the first over-the-counter supplements to be analyzed was alpha-tocopherol (Vitamin E). In 1988, Golbe and colleagues (106, 107) reported its neuroprotective effects in PD patients. The prospective "Deprenyl and Tocopherol Antioxidative Therapy of Parkinsonism" (DATATOP) clinical trial failed to show neuroprotection by tocopherol, although deprenyl delayed the onset of disability (108). A new prospective analysis from the Nurses' Health Study, showed consumption of high doses of vitamin E from food decreased PD risk. Investigators also found that carotenoids, vitamin C or multivitamins were not effective (109).

Ubidecarenone, also known as coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10), is a well-known antioxidant agent (6, 20, 21, 22, 110, 111, 112, 113). It directly scavenges free radicals in the inner mitochondrial membrane by acting as an electron shuttle for complex I and II of the electron transport chain (22). CoQ10 mitochondrial levels are significantly lower in patients with PD as compared to age-comparable

controls (114). The loss of CoQ10 in PD patients correlates with mitochondrial dysfunction in PD. Plasma %CoO10 in PD patients are greater than in controls, suggesting there is an increase in oxidative stress in PD patients (115). In a study where 28 PD patients were given oral CoQ10 360 mg daily for 4 weeks, there was a significant improvement in PD symptoms compared to the placebo. However, no improvement of motor symptoms or activities of daily living were seen (111). A randomized, double-blind, calibrated futility clinical trial of CoQ10 and GPI-1485 in early untreated PD using placebo data from the DATATOP study was performed to establish the futility threshold (116). The primary outcome measure (change in total Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale scores over 1 year) did not meet the pre-specified criteria for futility for either agent. Secondary analyses using calibration controls and other more recent placebo data question the appropriateness of the predetermined definition of futility, and suggest that a more restrictive threshold may be needed. An independent large clinical trial of CoQ10 funded by NINDS is planned.

Uric acid (UA) is the final product of purine metabolism in humans and also a powerful antioxidant (117). Studies have shown that UA is not only a free radical scavenger, but can also be an electron donor, and an iron chelator (118). Epidemiological evidence suggests that high blood levels of UA decrease the risk of PD (8). In a large prospective study of 18,000 men, there was a 55% lower risk of developing PD among men in the top quartile of plasma urate concentration (119). Inosine, a urate precursor, is currently used in clinical trials for multiple sclerosis patients (119). A clinical trial to assess the effects of UA in PD patients, also using inosine, is currently underway. It should be noted that elevated urate levels increases the risk of having kidney stones and gout, as well as possible cardiovascular complications and its administration should be monitored by physicians.

Creatine monohydrate is a bioenergetic compound important in ATP homeostasis (120). Creatine converts to phosphocreatine and may act as an indirect antioxidant by facilitating energy transduction and mitochondrial permeability (121). Administration of creatine can prevent mitochondrial creatine kinases from being converted into the dimeric form and increases glutamate uptake into synaptic vesicles. Creatine may therefore protect against mitochondrial dysfunction in PD. In rodent models of PD, creatine attenuated dopaminergic neuronal loss (122). Creatine recently passed a phase II "futility" clinical trial and is now moving into phase III trial to determine if a purified medicinal form can slow PD progression (123). As creatine intake may induce stomachaches, diarrhea, increased urination and/or muscle cramps, its use should be properly supervised.

Glutathione is a major antioxidant and redox modulator in the brain. PD patients display decreases in total glutathione concentrations in the SNpc (124). The magnitude of reduction in glutathione levels seems to parallel the severity of PD and in advanced stages of the disease glutathione is undetectable in the SNpc (21). A small, but statistically significant improvement in disability was found in PD patients that used glutathione (600 mg twice daily i.v.) compared to controls. Even after 30 days of therapy were completed and glutathione was discontinued, assessments were repeated monthly, and the therapeutic effect of glutathione was noted to last for 2-4 additional months after drug discontinuation. Unfortunately, there is currently insufficient evidence to recommend the use of glutathione since epidemiological studies have not confirmed these results (124).

Caffeine consumption is inversely associated with the risk of PD. The overall risk of PD is 30% lower among coffee drinkers compared to age-matching controls (125). Caffeine is a non-specific adenosine A_{2A} receptor antagonist and has been reported to modulate DA release (126). In rodent models of PD, caffeine induced significant preservation of nigrostriatal DA and nigral dopaminergic neurons compared to vehicle (126, 127, 128). It is controversial if these positive effects are mediated via antagonism of A_{2A} receptors, or by direct inactivation of apoptotic pathways (129).

Using multiple food items (such as blueberries, nuts or coffee) as sources of antioxidants are mostly safe when ingested in moderation as part of a balance diet. In comparison, supplements, even those that can be obtained over-the-counter, can have side effects (specially when ingested in high quantities). In addition, as over-the-counter supplements are not required to follow the strict standards expected from medications, the quality and quantity of the active ingredient used in their preparations may vary between brands, affecting their safety and effectiveness. To minimize their risks and maximize their advantages supplement use should be monitored by medical doctors.

4.3. Caloric restriction

A proposed alternative to healthy eating and dietary supplementation is long-term caloric restriction. This approach has been shown to reduce age-related diseases, while lowering cholesterol, fasting glucose, and blood pressure (130, 131, 132). Epidemiological studies have shown that people who follow a low-calorie, low-fat diet may be at a lower risk for PD. In the MPTP monkey model of PD, calorie restriction has also been shown to attenuate motor dysfunction, preserve levels of dopamine, as well as increase levels of GDNF (133). In other studies, caloric restriction has been found to prevent apoptosis by preventing caspase-1 activity (134). Caloric restriction also seems to be neuroprotective in rodent models for other neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (135), Ischemia (136), and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (137). Based on this evidence, caloric restriction is one strategy to decrease the risk of PD, although it is unknown how caloric restriction affects PD patients who are already symptomatic (138).

4.4. Nicotine

The overall risk of developing PD is 60% lower among smokers (138). Nicotine is the active ingredient in cigarettes and has been identified as the responsible neuroprotective factor in smoking (139). Nicotine

stimulates nicotinic acetylcholine (nACh) receptors in the nigrostriatal system. Similar to dopaminergic transmission, there is a significant loss of nACh receptors in PD patients in this area (139, 140). Nicotine is involved in modulating DA release via nACh receptors. Therefore, if these receptors become downregulated in PD, there is also a reduction in DA release (139). In parkinsonian MPTP animal models, nicotine was reported to decrease nigrostriatal damage by stimulating DA release. DA and MPP⁺ compete for the use of the DA transporter in the dopaminergic cell terminals. Thus, increased DA in the terminals decreases MPP⁺ ability to induce intra-DA cell toxicity (141). Nicotine has also shown antioxidative properties, reducing free radicals (140). In animal models of PD agonists of nACh-alpha-7 receptor elicit neuroprotective effects, while agonists of nACh-alpha-4beta-2 receptors modulate PD symptoms (142).

4.5. Anti-inflammatory compounds

Inflammation is a process by which the body's defense system (immune system) protects itself against infection and foreign substances (143). Inflammation in the brain involves microglia activation and secretion of chemicals named cytokines. The brain of PD patients, as well as animals and humans exposed to DA neurotoxins, typically present activated microglia in the nigrostriatal system. Aging (the most important PD risk factor) presents mild microglia activation resembling an inflammatory-like state (27). While inflammation is essential for survival, too much can be harmful, as increases oxidative stress and metabolic requirements. Based on this information anti-inflammatory treatments have been explored as a strategy to prevent PD progression.

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) induce their effects by inhibiting cyclooxygenase, an enzyme involved in the synthesis of pro-inflammatory prostaglandins (144). Numerous studies in animal models of PD have found that NSAIDs, such as ibuprofen, celecoxib, and rofecoxib have neuroprotective properties (145, 146, 147, 148). Clinical studies have also found that NSAIDs can have some benefits for PD. In a prospective analysis, aspirin or acetaminophen use was associated with a higher PD risk, yet aspirin use of less than or equal to 300 mg/day for more than 3 years was associated with a lower PD risk compared to no use (149). Intake of non-aspirin NSAIDs was associated with a 20% reduction in the incidence of PD among men and a 20% increase in the incidence of PD among women. The lower risk in men was especially marked for high doses and long duration of use. The risk in women was elevated for all indications. This study suggests that nonaspirin NSAID use reduces PD risk in men but not in women (149). Although these data are very interesting, the chronic use of NSAID has been shown to have serious side effects such as stomach ulcers, gastrointestinal bleeding, liver and kidney damage, and high blood pressure, suggesting that administration of NSAIDs should be supervised and patients should consult with their physicians before starting chronic administration (150, 151).

Another type of drug with anti-inflammatory properties is the tetracycline derivative minocycline.

Minocycline's anti-inflammatory actions are distinct from its mechanisms as an antibiotic. There is mixed data supporting minocycline's role as an anti-inflammatory agent against PD. In MPTP mouse models of PD, there are some reports that minocycline increases TH positive neurons in the SNpc, while inhibiting activation of microglia (152). However, other reports indicate that although minocycline decreased activation of microglia, it did not provide neuroprotection against MPTP (153). Despite mixed results in animal models, minocycline is currently being investigated in clinical trials for PD (154). It should be mentioned that a recent clinical trial evaluating the efficacy of minocycline in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis patients reported adverse effects of the compound in a dose-dependent manner, such as gastrointestinal and neurological side effects (155).

One class of compounds that has recently garnered attention from scientists for its anti-inflammatory properties is thiazoledinediones, which are peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonists (PPARgamma). One type of PPAR-gamma agonist is the drug pioglitazone. Pioglitazone treats diabetes by stimulating insulin-mediated glucose transport and metabolism. In a mouse model of PD, pioglitazone attenuated microglial activation, decreased oxidative stress, and partially restored striatal DA (156). Evidence from primate models of PD as well have supported the concept that pioglitazone may have neuroprotective effects (157). It should be noted that rosiglitazone a compound related to pioglitazone has been associated with serious cardiovascular dysfunction, and that in general, there are warning labels for the use of glitazones (158).

4.6. Calcium modulators

Calcium channel blockers are widely used for a variety of disorders including high blood pressure, hypertension, and angina (159). Scientists are studying if these drugs can be neuroprotective in PD, as changes in calcium influx may affect nigral cell survival. Unlike other neurons in the brain, SNpc DA neurons run like pacemakers on an autonomously active basis with Cav1.3 subunit. (160). Additionally, SNpc DA neurons rely on Ltype Ca²⁺ channels. Normally in L-type Ca²⁺ channels, calcium flows readily into cells and is pumped out through ATP membrane transporter occurring during action potentials. However, in the SNpc, Ca²⁺ channels are open most of the time (160). Therefore, there is a larger influx of calcium, causing a greater burden to the neuron by increasing oxidative stress and cellular damage (160). This influx could facilitate aging of SNpc DA neurons, which is consistent with reports that a higher rate of SNpc DA neurons with increasing age (5-10% per decade) are lost than other types of neurons (161).

To combat calcium influx induced damage, Ca^{2+} channel blockers are now being assessed for PD therapy. Flunarizine, cinnarizine, have been reported to decrease dopaminergic cells *in vitro* (162). In a retrospective study with 3,637 cases of PD patients with aged matched controls, chronic use of Ca^{2+} channel blockers was associated with a significant decrease in the risk of PD (62). Though this study elicited valuable results, a prospective study is imperative to determine if Ca^{2+} channel blockers can attenuate the progression of PD. It should be mentioned that some Ca^{2+} channel blockers may actually be harmful to PD patients.

4.7. Monaomine oxidase B (MAO-B) inhibitors

MAO-B inhibitors, such as selegiline (previously known as deprenyl) are used in PD treatment due to their ability to block DA from being metabolized, thus increasing DA availability (163). When it was proposed that the neurotoxin MPTP needed intracerebral MAO-B to convert to its toxic metabolite MPP⁺, selegiline was used to test and confirm this theory (164). The neuroprotective properties of MAO-B were then further tested in clinical trials. Selegiline treated patients showed a delayed in the onset of disability suggesting neuroprotective effects (108). Recently, it was found that selegiline has antiapoptotic properties by upregulating bcl-2 and bcl-xl (165), suggesting that neuroprotection is not solely mediated by MAO-B inhibition. Selegiline also reduces oxidative stress by attenuating the production of oxidative radicals, upregulating superoxide dismutase and catalase, and decreasing iron mediated oxidation of DA (166).

Rasagiline is a second generation MAO-B inhibitor with potential neuroprotective properties for PD patients. Studies suggest that, like selegiline, rasagiline increases levels of bcl-2 and bcl-xl, which protects dopaminergic neurons against apoptosis (167). Studies in dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cell cultures (cells that lack MAO; 168) rasagiline also affected apoptosis by decreasing the of glyceraldehyde-2-phophatase accumulation dehydrogenase induced by the neurotoxin Nmethyl(R)salsolinol. In a meta-analysis of 63 clinical and laboratory studies of rasagiline, it was shown that when administered orally at 0.5-1.0 mg per day, it was effective, selectively inhibited MAO-B, and was well tolerated in PD patients (169).

4.8. Estrogen

The incidence of PD is higher in males than females (11, 19). Gender differences in sensitivity to neurotoxins have been observed. Studies in experimental animals suggest that estrogen acts as a neuroprotectant from numerous forms of injury (170). Gender differences have also been shown in response to treatment of PD, for example, in how levodopa is metabolized (women have greater levodopa bioavailability). A slight significant difference in disability between sexes and quality-of-life reporting was shown, as females stated increased disability and reduced quality of life (171). The results of retrospective surveys of the neuroprotective effects of estrogen replacement in PD are controversial, with some showing no effect on risk and others showing a reduction in risk. In the "PD On Estrogen Therapy Replacement in the menopause Years" (POETRY) study, participants were found to have improved scores on the Unified Parkinson Disease Rating Scale (171). Based on the POETRY results, it is hypothesized that estrogen replacement therapy may decrease PD symptoms and provide an opportunity to

reduce the prescribed amount of antiparkinsonian medication in females.

4.9. Trophic factors

GDNF has been identified as a potent DA neurotrophic factor during development and has neuroprotective effects in animal models of PD (172, 173). Therefore, GDNF is a logical candidate for PD treatment (174, 175). The receptor complex for the trophins of GDNF family comprises the transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase Ret and an extrinsic protein receptor GRFalpha that acts as the binding element (176). There are four distinct GRFalpha subunits. GDNF preferentially bind to GRFalpha-1, which is abundant in DA nigrostriatal neurons. GDNF, as other trophic factors, is a large protein and cannot freely cross the blood brain barrier. In order to target the nigrostriatal system, clinical trials relied on surgical implantation of intracerebral cannulae to deliver GDNF directly into the brain. The controversial results of the GDNF trials revealed that the method of delivery and the dosing seem to be key elements to ensure the success and safety of the treatment (177, 178). New trials have been halted until new animal data are collected.

Neurturin, a homolog of GDNF with similar neuroprotective properties, has been proposed as an alternative trophic treatment due to its neuroprotective properties in animal models of PD (179, 180). Neurturin preferentially binds to GRFalpha-2 subunit (181). As these binding receptor subunits are scantily present in the nigrostriatal system (182), it is hypothesized that neurturin actions in dopaminergic neurons depend on nonspecific binding to GRFalpha-1 receptors. Similar to GDNF, neurturin cannot cross the blood brain barrier. To overcome this issue a current clinical trials uses intracerebral brain injections of viral vectors to introduce the neurturin gene in the neurons of the nigrostriatal system (in vivo gene therapy) and increase localized neurturin production (183).

Trophic factor delivery using surgical methods presents, in addition of the potential risks associated to the novel compound, risks associated to the invasive nature of the procedure as well as the delivery system. For example, cannulae and pump systems have an increase chance of infection, while viral vectors can introduce wild type viruses. At this time gene expression cannot be stopped in case of complications.

In order to facilitate trophic factor therapies, investigators are searching for methods to allow big molecules to cross the blood brain barrier. This will allow systemic delivery, avoid costly and risky surgical interventions and will enable administration earlier in the course of the disease. Trojan horses technology, such as the fusion of GDNF to the carboxyl terminus of the chimeric monoclonal antibody to the human insulin receptor are currently being investigated in animals (184). Systemic delivery of trophic factors may also prevent neurodegeneration beyond the nigral cells, affecting other regions compromised by PD. These potential benefits carry the risk of inducing side effects associated to unwanted trophic factor receptor activation in non-desirable areas or disturbing the molecule system targeted by the trojan horse. Future clinical trials using these novel technologies will depend on their demonstration of safety

4.10. Other potential neuroprotective factors

Several other candidate neuroprotective factors are being considered at the present time. GM1 ganglioside is a component of neuronal membranes, which may mediate neutrophic factors actions and inhibit apoptosis. Results in animal models of PD have been mixed (185, 186, 187). In a double-blind placebo-controlled study, GM1-treated PD patients showed an improvement in clinical motor ratings, activities. and some dimensions dailv neuropsychological performance (185). A disadvantage of this compound is that it must be administered parenterally. However, pharmaceutical companies are currently examining ways to deliver the compound orally.

GPI-1485 is a neuroimmunophilin ligand that interacts with the protein FK506 (188). This interaction neurotrophins without inducing activates the immunosuppression observed other related with compounds, such as cyclosporine A (188). As stated earlier, a clinical trial of CoQ10 and GPI-1485 in early untreated PD using placebo data from the DATATOP study was performed to establish the futility threshold. However, results were inconclusive (116). Consequently, future studies are needed to assess the clinical efficacy of GPI-1485 for PD.

DA agonists (compounds that act on DA receptors) such ropinirole and pramipexole have been proposed to be neuroprotective, but results from clinical trials have been controversial (189). The "Comparison of the Agonist pramipexole versus Levodopa on motor complications of PD" (CALM-PD) study was undertaken to assess in early PD the effects of pramipexole supplemented with levodopa versus levodopa alone. Progression of nigrostriatal degeneration was monitored using [¹²³I]β-carbomethoxy-3- β -(4-iodophenyl)-tropane (beta-CIT) single photon computerized emission tomography (SPECT) at 2, 3, and 4year time points. Beta-CIT is a radioligand of the DA Patients treated with pramipexole transporter. supplemented with levodopa showed significant upregulation of beta-CIT, suggesting higher neuronal density and a reduction in DA nigral cell loss (190, 191). A similar clinical study using ropinirole, and then imaged with 18-fluorodopa (a radioligand equivalent to levodopa) positron emission tomography (PET) elicited similar results to the CALM-PD trial (192). However in both studies is discussed the value of imaging as an indirect measure of neuronal survival and whether the experimental design was appropriate to eliminate potential confounding effects generated by the administration of PD medications (189).

5. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Can we prevent PD? Based on the data discussed in this review, proposing a "one size fits all" recipe for preventing PD is unwise. Accumulated evidence supports the concept that PD is a multi-etiological, multi-system disease that presents with individual differences in symptoms and progression (87, 88, 193). Risk and neuroprotective factors seem to be part of the equation that defines who will ultimately develop this disease. Nobody chooses to get PD.

It cannot be emphasized enough the need to find predictive and diagnostic tools, as well as sensitive biomarkers of disease progression. Innovative screening methods may be able to identify people at risk of developing PD and biomarkers can help recognize PD very early, prior to extensive cell loss, when introduction of neuroprotective therapies can be the most beneficial. Biomarkers can also (ideally) provide unbiased clues to assess in a short period of time if a therapy is modifying the course of PD or is just affecting the symptoms.

Researchers are intensely looking for effective, noninvasive ways to prevent or slow down PD progression. Given the current results with neuroprotective candidates, it must be kept in mind that in addition of potential neuroprotection, other factors must be weighed before selecting agents for clinical trials. These include: the observed safety and tolerability of the compounds, the costs and accessibility of the proposed treatments, as well as how they compare to other candidates currently being tested in clinical trials (116). Only a systematic analysis of treatments will provide answers regarding efficacy, complications and limitations. In that context, oral treatments are especially attractive due to their potential to produce global effects, present lower risks compared to surgical interventions, and be less costly, which will allow for a higher impact in the population.

Although nobody can stop the path of time or change genetic background, it is becoming evident that there are certain actions that individuals can take to decrease the risk of developing PD. Supporting organic farming decreases exposure to pesticides in the food and also the environment. Regular exercise and a balanced diet with colorful fruits and vegetables supplemented with nuts may confer neuroprotection. Is this too simple or too obvious? The current raising rates of obesity and diabetes imply that these simple suggestions are not followed by many people, which increases their risk of all types of illness, not just PD (194). Interventions for cardiovascular disease include nutritional advice and recommendation of exercise programs. Perhaps, they should also be part of the prescription for the prevention and treatment of PD.

6. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge support from the Kinetics Foundation, The Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Disease and Grant P51 RR000167 from the National Center for Research Resources (NCRR), a component of the National Institutes of Health (NIH), to the Wisconsin National Primate Research Center, University of Wisconsin-Madison. This research was conducted in part at a facility constructed with support from Research Facilities Improvement Program grants RR15459-01 and RR020141-01.

7. REFERENCES

1. A. H. Shapira and C. W. Olanow: Neuroprotection in Parkinson's Disease: Mysteries, Myths, and Misconceptions. *JAMA*, 291, 358-364 (2004)

2. W. Dauer and S. Przedborski: Parkinson's Disease: Mechanisms and Models. *Neuron*, 39, 889-909 (2003)

3. M. Vila and S. Prezdborski: Genetic Clues to the Pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease. *Nat. Med.*, 10, 58-62 (2004)

4. T. P. Brown, P. C. Rumsby, A. C. Capleton, L. Rushton and L. S. Levy: Pesticides and Parkinson's Disease-Is there a Link? *Environ Health Perspect.*, 114(2), 156-163 (2006)

5. D. A. Cory-Slechta, M. Thiruchelvam, E. K. Richfield, B. K. Barlow and A. I. Brooks: Developmental Pesticide Exposures and the Parkinson's Disease Phenotype. *Birth Defects Res. Part A Clin. Mol. Teratol.*, 2005(73), 136-139 (2005)

6. C. W. Shults, M. F. Beal, D. Song and D. Fontaine: Pilot Trial of High Dosages of Coenzyme Q10 in Patients With Parkinson's Disease. *Exp Neurol.*, 188, 491-494 (2004)

7. A. Rajput and A.H. Rajput: Parkinson's disease management strategies. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 6(1), 91-99 (2006).

8 H. Braak and E. Braak: Pathoanatomy of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol*, 24(Suppl 2), II/3-II/110 (2000)

9. J. Jankovic and M. Stacy. Medical management of levodopa-associated motor complications in patients with Parkinson's disease: *CNS Drugs.*, 21(8), 677-692 (2007)

10. K. L. Chou and H. I. Hurtig: Classical Motor Features of Parkinson's Disease. In: *Parkinson's Disease*. Ed M. Ebadi&R. F. Pfeiffer. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2005)

11. C. M. Tanner: Etiology: The Role of Environment and Genetics. In: *Parkinson's Disease: Diagnosis and Clinical Management*. Ed S. A. Factor & W. J. Weiner. Demos, New York (2008)

12. E. Tolosa, G. Wenning and W. Poewe: The diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. *Lancet*, 5 (2006)

13. E. B. J. Montgomery, W. C. Koller, T. J. LaMantia, M. C. Newman, E. Swanson-Hyland, A. W. Kaszniak and K. Lyons: Early detection of probable idiopathic Parkinson's disease: I. Development of a diagnostic test battery. *Mov. Dis.*, 15(3), 467-473 (2000)

14. E. B. J. Montgomery, K. Lyons and W. C. Koller: Early detection of probable idiopathic Parkinson's disease: II. A prospective application of a diagnostic test battery. *Mov Disord.*, 15(3), 474-478. (2000) 15. C. Scherzer, A. Eklund, L. Morse, Z. Liao, J. Locascio, D. Fefer, M. Scwarzschild, J. Growdon, Jensen, RV and S. Gullans: Molecular markers of early Parkinson's disease based on gene expression in blood. *PNAS*, 104, 955-960 (2007)

16. E. R. Dorsey, R. G. Holloway and B. M. Ravina: Biomarkers in Parkinson's disease. *Expert Rev Neurotherapeutics*, 6(5), 823-831 (2006)

17. S. Van Den Eeden, C. M. Tanner, A. Berstein, R. Fross, S. Leimpeter, D. Block and L. Nelson: Incidence of Parkinson's Disease: Variation by Age, Gener, and Race/Ethnicity. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, 157, 1015-1022 (2003)

18. M. F. Allam, A. Del Costillo and N. RF: Parkinson's Disease Risk Factors: Genetic, Environment, or Both? *Neurol Res.*, 27, 206-208 (2005)

19. G. F. Wooten, L. J. Currie, V. E. Bovbjerg, J. K. Lee and L. Patrie: Are men at greater risk for Parkinson's disease than women? *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 75, 637-639 (2004)

20. C. W. Olanow, A. H. Schapira and Y. Agid: Neuroprotection for Parkinson's Disease: Prospects and Promises. *Ann Neurol*, 53, 39-48 (2003)

21. C. A. Weber and M. E. Ernst: Antioxidants, Supplements, and Parkinson's Disease. *Ann Pharmacother.*, 40, 935-938 (2006)

22. M. F. Beal: Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Oxidative Damage In Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases and Coenzyme Q10 as a Potential Treatment. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.*, 36(4), 381-386 (2004)

23. M. F. Beal: Bioenergetic Approaches for Neuroprotection in Parkinson's Disease. *Ann Neurol*, 53, S39-S48 (2003)

24. D. J. Moore, A. B. West, V. L. Dawson and T. M. Dawson: Molecular Pathophysiology of Parkinson's Disease. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, 28, 57-87 (2005)

25. J. Hardy and J. W. Langston: How many pathways are there to nigral death? *Ann Neurol*, 56(3), 316-318 (2004)

26. A. Granholm, H. Boger and M. Emborg: Mood, Memory, and Movement: An Age-Related Neurodegenerative Complex? *Current Aging Science* (in press)

27. J. R. Conde and W. J. Streit: Microglia in the Aging Brain. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 65, 199-203 (2006)

28. L. Sheffield and N. Berman: Microglial Expression of MHC Class II Increases in Normal Aging of Nonhuman Primates. *Neurobiol Aging*, 19, 47-55 (1998)

29. M. Emborg, S. Y. Ma, E. J. Mufson, A. I. Levey, M. D. Taylor, W. D. Brown, J. E. Holden and J. H. Kordower:

Age-Related Declines in Nigral Neuronal Function Correlate with Motor Impairments in Rhesus Monkeys. J. Comp. Neurol., 401, 253-265 (1998)

30. G. W. Ross, H. Petrovitch, R. D. Abbott, J. Nelson, W. Markesbery, D. Davis, J. Hardman, L. launer, K. Masaki, C. M. Tanner and L. R. White: Parkinsonian Signs and Substantia Nigra Neuron Density in Descendents Elders Without PD. *Ann Neurol.*, 56, 532-539 (2004)

31. M. Emborg and J. H. Kordower: Nigrostriatal Functions in Aged Nonhuman Primates. In: *Aging in Nonhuman Primates*. Ed E. J.M.&H. P.R. Basel, Karger, New York (2002)

32. Y. Chu and J. H. Kordower: Age-associated increases of alpha-synuclein in monkey and humans are associated with nigrostriatal dopamine depletion: Is this the target for Parkinson's disease? *Neurobiol Dis.*, 25(1), 134-149 (2007)

33. P. Anglade, S. Vyas, E. C. Hirsch and Y. Agid: Apoptosis in dopaminergic neurons of the human substantia nigra during normal aging. *Histol Histopathol.*, 12(3), 603-610 (1997)

34. E. D. Louis and D. A. Bennett: Mild Parkinsonian signs: An overview of an emerging concept. *Mov Disord.*, 22(12), 1681-1688. (2007)

35. D. A. Bennett, K. M. Shannon, L. A. Beckett and R. S. Wilson: Dimensionality of parkinsonian signs in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.*, 54(4), M191-196 (1999)

36. A. Trifunovic and N. G. Larsson: Mitochondrial dysfunction as a cause of ageing. *J Intern Med.*, 263(2), 167-178 (2008)

37. C. E. Finch: Neurons, glia, and plasticity. *Adv Gerontol.*, 10, 35-39 (2002)

38. J.A. Sloane, W. Hollander, M.B. Moss, D.L. Rosene, and C.R. Abraham: Increased microglial activation and protein nitration in white matter of the aging monkey. *Neurobiol Aging.*, 20(4), 395-405 (1999)

39. K. Ogura, M. Ogawa, and M. Yoshida: Effects of aging on microglia in the normal rat brain: immunohistochemical observations. *Neuroreport.*, 5(10), 1224-,1226 (2004)

40. L. J. Lawson, V. H. Perry, P. Dri and S. Gordon: Heterogenity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience*, 39, 151-161 (1990)

41. T. G. Beach, L. I. Sue, D. G. Walker, L. F. Lue, D. J. Connor, J. N. Caviness, M. N. Sabbagh and C. H. Adler: Marked microglial reaction in normal aging human substantia nigra: correlation with extraneuronal neuromelanin pigment deposits. *Acta Neuropathol*, 4(419-424) (2007)

42. R. W. Oppenheim: Cell death during development of the nervous system. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, 14, 453-501 (1991)

43. T. J. Collier, D. Zao, P. M. Carvey, A. Fletcher-Turner, D. Yurek, J. Sladek Jr. and 4 J. H. Kordower: Striatal trophic factor activity in aging monkeys with unilateral MPTP-induced parkinsonism. *Exp Neurol.*, 191, 560-567 (2005)

44. S. Hunot, V. Bernard, B. Faucheux, F. Boissiere, E. Leguern, C. Brana, P. Gautris, J. Guerin, B. Bloch, Y. Agis and E. C. Hirsch: Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) gene expression in the human brain: a post mortem in situ hybridization study with special reference to Parkinson's disease. *J Neural Transm.*, 103(8-9), 1043-52 (1996)

45. I. Stromberg, L. Bjorklund, M. Johansson, A. Tomac, F. Collins, L. Olson, B. Hoffer and C. Humpel: Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor is expressed in the developing but not adult striatum and stimulates developing dopamine neurons in vivo. *Exp Neurol*, 124(2), 401-412 (1993)

46. M. J. Farrer: Genetics of Parkinson disease: paradigm shifts and future prospects. *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, 7, 306-318 (2006)

47. R. G. Perez, J. C. Waymire, J. J. Liu, F. Guo and M. J. Zigmond: A Role for alpha-Synuclein in the Regulation of Dopamine Biosynthesis. *J. Neurosci.*, 22(8), 3090-3099 (2002)

48. D. Maries, B. Dass, T. J. Collier, J. H. Kordower and K. Steece-Collier: The role of alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's Disease: Insights from Animal Models. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, 4, 727-738 (2003)

49. G. K. Tofaris and M. G. Spillantini: Physiological and pathological properties of alpha-synuclein. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.*, 64, 2194-2201 (2007)

50. H. A. Lashuel, B. M. Petre, J. Wall, M. Simon, R. J. Nowak, T. Walz and P. T. Lansbury Jr: alpha-Synuclein, Especially the Parkinson's Disease-associated Mutants, Forms Pore-like Annular and Tubular Protofibrils. *J Mol. Biol.*, 322, 1089-1102 (2002)

51. M. J. Farrer, J. Kachergus, L. Forno, S. Lincoln, D. S. Wang, M. Hulihan, D. Maraganore, K. Gwinn-Hardy, Z. Wszolek, D. Dickson and J. W. Langston: Comparison of Kindreds with Parkinsonism and alpha-Synuclein Genomic Multiplications. *Ann Neurol*, 55, 174-179 (2004)

52. R. Betarbet, T. B. Sherer and J. T. Greenamyre: Ubiquitin-proteosome system and Parkinson's diseases. *Exp Neurol*, 191, 517-527 (2005)

53. L. I. Golbe: Alpha-Synuclein and Parkinson's Disease. In: *Parkinson's Disease*. Ed M. Ebadi & R. F. Pfeiffer. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2005) 54. M. W. Dodson and M. Guo: Pink1, Parkin, DJ-1 and mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.*, 17(3), 331-337 (2007)

55. D. M. Kay, J. S. Montimurro and H. Payami: Genetics. In: *Parkinson's Disease: Diagnosis and Clinical Management*. Ed S. A. Factor & W. J. Weiner. Demos, New York (2008)

56. W. D. Smith, P. Zhong, H. Jiang, V. L. Dawson, T. M. Dawson and C. A. Ross: Kinase activity of mutant LRRK2 mediates neuronal toxicity. *Nat Neurosci.*, 9(10), 1231-1233 (2006)

57. A. B. West, D. J. Moore, C. Choi, S. A. Andrabi, X. Li, D. Dikeman, S. Biskup, Z. Zhang, L. Kah-Leong, V. L. Dawson and T. M. Dawson: Parkinson's disease-associated with mutations in LRRK2 link enhanced GTP-binding and kinase activities to neuronal toxicity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, 16(2), 223-232 (2007)

58. J. W. Langston, P. Ballard, J. W. Tetrud and I. Irwin: Chronic Parkinsonism in Humans Due to a Product of Meperidine-Analog Synthesis. *Science*, 219, 979-980 (1983)

59. G. C. Davis, A. C. Williams, S. P. Markey, M. H. Ebert, E. D. Caine, C. M. Reichert and I. J. Kopin: Chronic Parkinsonism Secondary to Intravenous Injection of Meperidine Analogues. *Psychiatry Res.*, 1(249-254) (1979)

60. M. Paolini, A. Sapone and F. J. Gonzalez: Parkinson's Disease, Pesticides and Individual Vulnerability. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.*, 25(3), 124-129 (2004)

61. M. Ebadi and J. Chagkutip: MPTP Disrupts Dopamine Receptors and Dopamine Transporters. In: *Parkinson's Disease*. Ed M. Ebadi & R. F. Pfeiffer. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2005)

62. A. Barbeau, L. Dallaire, N. T. Buu, J. Poirier and E. Rucinska: Comparative behavioral, biochemical, and pigmentary effects of MPTP, MPP⁺, and paraquat in rana pipiens. *Life Sci.*, 37, 1529-1538 (1985)

63. R. J. Dinis-Oliveira, F. Remiao, H. Carmo, J. A. Duarte, A. S. Navarro, M. L. Bastos and F. Carvalho: Paraquat exposure as an etiological factor of Parkinson's disease. *Neurotoxicology*, 27(6), 1110-1122 (2003)

64. J. K. Andersen: Paraquat and iron exposure as possible synergistic environmental risk factors in Parkinson's disease. *Neurotox Res.*, 5(5), 307-313 (2003)

65. B. K. Barlow, D. A. Cory-Slechta, E. K. Richfield and M. Thiruchelvam: The gestational environment and Parkinson's disease: evidence for neurodevelopmental origins of a neurodegenerative disorder. *Reprod Toxicol.*, 23, 457-470 (2007)

66. Z. D. Ling, C. Q, J. W. Lipton, C. W. Tong, T. M. Landers and P. M. Carvey: Combined Toxicity of Prenatal

Bacterial Endotoxin Exposrue and Postnatal 6-Hydroxydopamine in the Adult Male Rat Brain. *Neuroscience*, 124, 619-628 (2004)

67. S. S. Iyer, W. T. Garrett and K. D. Sethi: Symptomatic Parkinsonism. In: *Parkinson's Disease: Diagnosis and Clinical Management.* Ed S. A. Factor & W. J. Weiner. Demos, New York (2008)

68. D. B. Calne, G. M. Stern, A. S. Spiers and D. R. Laurence: L-dopa in idiopathic parkinsonism. *Lancet*, 2(7628), 973-976 (1969)

69. S. A. Factor and W. Weinder: Prior history of head trauma in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.*, 6(3), 225-229 (1991)

70. J. Bower, D. Maragnore, B. Peterson, S. McDonnell, J. Ahlskog and W. Rocca: Head trauma preceding PD: a case-control study. *Neurology*, 60(10), 1610-1615 (2003)

71. M. B. Stern: Head Trauma as a risk factor for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.*, 6(2), 95-97 (1991)

72. G. Hu, P. Jousilahti, S. Bidel, R. Antikainen and J. Tuomeilehto: Type 2 Diabetes and the Risk of Parkinson's Disease. *Diabetes Care*, 30(4), 842-847 (2007)

73. Z. Arvanitakis, R. S. Wilson, J. L. Bienias and D. Bennett: Diabetes and Parkinsonian Signs in Older Persons. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*, 21(2), 144-149 (2007)

74. S. Craft and G. S. Watson: Insulin and neurodegenerative disease: shared and specific mechanisms. *The Lancet Neurology*, 3, 169-178 (2004)

75. J. W. Unger, J. N. Livingston and A. M. Moss: Insulin Receptors In The Central Nervous System: Localization, Signaling Mechanisms, and Functional Aspects. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 36, 343-362 (1991)

76. T. Wyss-Coray: Inflammation in Alzheimer disease: driving force, bystander, or beneficial response? *Nature Medicine*, 12(9), 1005-1015 (2006)

77. A. H. Rajput and B. Rozkilski: Alzheimer's Disease and Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease Coexistence. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 6, 170-176 (1993)

78. K. A. Jellinger, K. Seppi, G. K. Wenning and W. Poewe: Impact of coexistent Alzheimer pathology on the natural history of Parkinson's disease. *J Neural Transm*, 109, 329-339 (2002)

79. A. Nunomura, P. I. Moreira, H. G. Lee, X. Zhu, R. J. Castellani, R. J. Smith and G. Perry: Neuronal Death and Survival Under Oxidative Stress in Alzheimer and Parkinson Diseases. *CNS & Neurological Disorders-Drug Targets*, 6, 411-423 (2007)

80. D. Hanahan and R. A. Weinberg: The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell Transplantation*, 100, 57-70 (2000)

81. R. Inzelberg and J. Jankovic: Are Parkinson disease patients protected from some but not all cancers? *Neurology*, 69, 1542-1550 (2007)

82. J. A. Driver, G. Logroscino, J. E. Buring, J. M. Gaziano and T. Kurth: A Prospective Cohort Study of Cancer Incidence Following the Diagnosis of Parkinson's Disease. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers*, 16(6), 1260-1265 (2007)

83. P. D. Baade, L. Fritschi and D. M. Freedman: Mortality due to Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Parkinson's Disease among Melanoma Patients. *Neuroepidemiology*, 2007(28) (2007)

84. B. Jansson and J. Jankovic: Low Cancer Rates Among Patients with Parkinson's Disease. *Ann Neurol*, 17, 505-509 (1985)

85. J. Olsen, S. Friis, K. Frederiksen, J. McLaughlin, J. Mellemkjaer and H. Moller: Atypical cancer pattern in patients with Parkinson's disease. *British Journal of Cancer*, 92, 201-205 (2005)

86. R. H. Kim, M. Peters, Y. Jang, W. Shi, M. Pintilie, G. C. Fletcher, C. DeLuca, J. Liepa, L. Zhou, B. Snow, R. C. Binari, A. S. Manoukian, M. R. Bray, F. F. Liu, M. S. Tsao and T. W. Mak: DJ-1, a novel regulator of the tumor suppressor PTEN. *Cancer Cell*, 7(3), 263-273 (2005)

87. I. Litvan, G. Hallidav, M. Hallet, C. G. Goetz, W. Rocca, C. Duyckaerts, Y. Ben-Shlomo, D. Dickson, A. E. Lang, M. F. Chesselet, J. W. Langston, D. A. Di Monte, T. Gasser, T. Hagg, J. Hardy, P. Jenner, E. Melamed, R. H. Myers, D. Parker Jr and D. L. Price: The etiopathogenesis of Parkinson disease and suggestions for future research. Part I. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 66(4), 251-257 (2007)

88. I. Litvan, M. F. Chesselet, T. Gasser, D. A. Di Monte, D. Parker Jr, T. Hagg, J. Hardy, P. Jenner, R. H. Myers, D. L. Price, M. Hallet, J. W. Langston, A. E. Lang, G. Hallidav, W. Rocca, C. Duyckaerts, D. Dickson, Y. Ben-Shlomo, C. G. Goetz and E. Melamed: The etiopathogenesis of Parkinson disease and suggestions for future research. Part II. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 66(5), 329-336 (2007)

89. E. Wolters and H. Braak: Parkinson's disease: premotor clinico-pathological correlations. *J Neural Transm*, 70, 309-319 (2006)

90. A. D. Smith and M. J. Zigmond: Can the Brain Be protected Through Exercise? Lessons from an animal model of Parkinsonism. *Exp Neurol.*, 184(31-39) (2003)

91. R. Dishman, H. Berthoud, F. Booth, C. Cotman, V. R. Edgerton, M. Fleschner, S. Gandevia, F. Gomez-Pinilla, B. Greenwood, n. C. Hillma, A. Kramer, B. Levin, T. Moran, A. Russo-Neustadt, J. Salamone, J. Van Hoomissen, C. Wade, Y. DA and M. J. Zigmond: Neurobiology of Exercise. *Obesity*, 14(3), 345-356 (2006)

92. E. L. Thacker, H. Chen, A. V. Patel, M. L. McCullough, E. E. Calle, M. J. Thun, M. A. Schwarzschild and A. Ascherio: Recreational physical activity and risk of Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.*, 23(1), 69-74 (2008)

93. F. Li, P. Harmer, K. J. Fisher, J. Xu, K. Fitzgerald and N. Vongjaturapat: Tai Chi-based exercise for older adults with Parkinson's disease: a pilot-program evaluation. *J Aging Phys Act*, 15(2), 139-151 (2007)

94. P. Kluding and P. Q. McGinnis: Multidimensional exercise for people with Parkinson's disease: A case report. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*, 22(3), 153-162 (2006)

95. V. A. Goodwin, S. H. Richards, R. S. Taylor, A. H. Tayler and J. L. Campbell: The effectiveness of exercise interventions for people with Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov Disord.* (in press)

96. L. Willis, P. Bickford, V. Zaman, A. Moore and A. Granholm: Blueberry Extract Enhances Survival of Intraocular Hippocampal Transplants. *Cell Transplant.*, 27, 206-208 (2005)

97. I. Stromberg, C. Gemma, J. Vila and P. Bickford: Blueberry-and Spirulina-enriched Diets Enhance Striatal Dopamine Recovery and Induce a Rapid, Transient, Microglial Activation After Injury of the Rat Nigrostriatal Dopamine System. *Exp Neurol.*, 196, 298-307 (2005)

98. P. Bickford, J. Tan, R. D. Shytle, D. D. Sanberg, N. El-Badri and P. R. Sanberg: Nutraceuticals Synergistically Promote Proliferation of Human Stem Cells. *Stem Cells Dev.*, 196, 298-307 (2006)

99. A. Schauss, X. Wu, R. Prior, B. Ou, D. huang, J. Owens, A. Agarwal, G. Jensen, A. Hart and E. Shanbrom: Antioxidant Capacity and Other Bioactivities of the Freeze-Dried Amazonian Palm Berry Euterpe oleraceae Mart. (Acai). *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 54, 8604-8610 (2006)

100. O. V. Brenna and E. Pagliarini: Multivariate analysis of antioxidant power and polyphenolic composition in red wines. *J Agric Food Chem*, 49(10), 4841-4844 (2001)

101. K. B. Miller, D. A. Stuart, N. L. Smith, C. Y. Lee, N. L. McHale, J. A. Flanagan, B. Ou and W. J. Hurst: Antioxidant activity and polyphenol and procyandin contents of selected commercially available cocoa-containing and chocolate products in the United States. *J Agric Food Chem*, 54(11), 4062-4068 (2006)

102. M. Fito, R. de la Torre and M. Covas: Olive oil and oxidative stress. *Mol Nutr Food Res.*, 51(10), 1215-1224 (2007)

103. M. S. Kim, J. I. Lee, W. Y. Lee and S. E. Kim: Neuroprotective effect of Ginkgo biloba L. extract in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Phytother Res.*, 18(8), 663-666 (2004)

104. S. F. Yang, Q. Wu, A. S. Sun, X. N. Huang and J. S. Shi: Protective effect and mechanism of Ginkgo biloba leaf extracts for Parkinson disease induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. *Acta Neurol. Sin.*, 22(12), 1089-1093 (2001)

105. I. Bodis-Wollner, E. Chung, M. F. Ghilardi, A. Glover, M. Onofrj, P. Pasik and Y. Samson: Acetyl-levocarnitine protects against MPTP-induced parkinsonism in primates. *J Neural Transm Park Dis Dement Sect.*, 3(1), 63-72 (1991)

106. L. Golbe, T. Farrell and P. Davis: Case-control study of early life dietary factors in Parkinson's disease. *Arch. Neurol.*, 45(12), 1350-1353 (1988)

107. L. Golbe, T. Farrell and P. Davis: Follow-up study of early-life protective and risk factors in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.*, 5(1), 66-70 (1990)

108. The Parkinson Study Group: Effects of tocopherol and deprenyl on the progression of disability in early Parkinson's disease. The Parkinson Study Group. *N Engl J Med.*, 328(3), 176-183 (1993)

109. S. Zhang, M. Hernan, H. Chen, D. Spiegelman, W. Willett and A. Ascherio: Intakes of Vitamin E and C, Cartenoids, Vitamin Supplements, and PD risk. *Neurology*, 59, 1161-1169 (2002)

110. M. Emborg: Evaluation of Animal Models of Parkinson's Disease for Neuroprotective Strategies. *J Neurosci Methods*, 139, 121-143 (2004)

111. T. Muller, T. Buttner, A. Gholipour and K. W: Coenzyme Q10 supplementation provides mild symptomatic benefit in patients with Parkinson's Disease. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 341, 201-204 (2003)

112. C. W. Shults, D. Oakes, K. Kieburtz, M. F. Beal, R. Haas, S. Plumb, J. Juncos, J. Nutt, I. Shoulson, J. Cater, K. Kompoliti, J. Permutter, S. Reich, M. Stern, R. Watts, K. R, E. Molho, M. Harrison and M. Lew: Effects of Coenzyme Q10 in Early Parkinson's Disease; evidence of slowing of the functional decline. *Arch. Neurol.*, 59, 1451-1550 (2002)

113. E. Strijks, H. Kremer and M. Horstink: Q10 Therapy in Patients With Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease. *Mol. Aspects Med.*, 18(suppl), 237-240 (1997)

104. C. Schults, R. Haas, D. Passov and M. F. Beal: Coenzyme Q10 Levels Correlate with the Activities of Complexes I and II/III in Mitochondria from Parkinsonian and Nonparkinsonian Subjects. *Ann Neurol.*, 42(261-264) (1997)

115. M. Sohmiya, M. Tanaka, M. Wei Tak, M. Yanagisawa, Y. Tanino, A. Suzuki, K. Okamoto and Y. Y.: Redox status of plasma coenzyme Q10 indicates elevated systemic oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Sci.*, 223, 161-166 (2004)

116. The NINDS NET-PD Investigators: A randomized clinical trial of coenzyme Q10 and GPI-1485 in early Parkinson disease. *Neurology*, 68(1), 20-28 (2007)

117. G. Glantzounis, E. Tsimoyiannis, A. Kappas and D. Galaris: Uric acid and oxidative stress. *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, 11, 4145-4151 (2005)

118. K. J. Davies, A. Sevanian, S. F. Muakkassah-Kelly and P. Hochsetin: Uric acid-iron ion complexities. A new aspect of the antioxidant functions of uric acid. *Biochem J*, 235, 747-754 (1986)

119. M. G. Weisskopf, E. O'Reilly, H. Chen, M. A. Schwarzschild and A. Ascherio: Plasma Urate and the Risk of Parkinson's Disease. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, 166, 561-567 (2007)

120. A. Bender, W. Koch, M. Elstner, Y. Schombacher, J. Bender, M. Moeschl, F. Gekeler, B. Muller-Myhsok, T. Gasser, K. Tatsch and T. Klopstock: Creatine supplementation in Parkinson disease: A placebocontrolled randomized pilot trial. *Neurology*, 67(1262-1264) (2007)

121. M. A. Tarnopolski and M. F. Beal: Potential for Creatine and Other Therapies Targeting Cellular Energy Dysfunction in Neurological Disorders. *Ann Neurol*, 49, 561-574 (2001)

122. R. T. Matthews, R. J. Ferrante, K. P, L. Yang, A. M. Klein, G. Mueller, R. Kaddurah-Daouk and M. F. Beal: Creatine and cyclocreatine attenuate MPTP neurotoxicity. *Exp Neurol*, 157, 142-149 (1999)

123. J. Couzin: Testing a Novel Strategy Against Parkinson's Disease. *Science*, 315(5820), 1778 (2007)

124. G. Sechi, M. Deledda, G. Bua, W. Satta, G. Delana, G. Pres and G. Rosati: Reduced intravenous glutathione in the treatment of early Parkinson's Disease. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry.*, 20, 1159-1170 (1996)

125. C. Martyn and C. Gale: Tobacco, coffee, and Parkinsons's disease. *BMJ*, 326(7389), 561-562 (2003)

126. A. Kalda, L. Yu, E. Oztas and J. F. Chen: Novel neuroprotection by caffeine and adenosine A2A receptor antagonists in animal models of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Sci.*, 248, 9-15 (2006)

127. J. F. Chen, K. Xu, J. Petzer, R. Staal, Xu, M. Beilstein, P. Sonsalla, N. Castagnoli Jr. and M. A. Schwarzschild: Neuroprotection by caffeine and A(2A) adenosine receptor inactivation in a model of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurosci.*, 21, RC143 (2001)

128. J. Bove, J. Serrats, G. Mengod, R. Cortes, E. Tolosa and C. Marin: Neuroprotection induced by the adenosine A2A antagonist CSC in the 6-OHDA rat model of parkinsonism: effect on the activity of striatal output pathways. Exp Brain Res., 165(3), 362-374 (2005)

129. D. Alvira, M. Yeste-Valasco, J. Folch, G. Casadesus, M. A. Smith, M. Pallas and A. Caminas: Neuroprotective effects of caffeine against complex I inhibition-induced apoptosis are mediated by inhibition of the Atm/p53/E2F-1 path in cerebellar granule neurons. *J Neurosci Res.*, 85(14), 3079-3088 (2007)

130. A. V. Everitt and D. G. Le Couteur: Life extension by calorie restriction in humans. *Ann NY Acad Sci.*, 1114, 428-433 (2007)

131. R. Weindruch and R. L. Walford: The Retardation of Aging and Disease by Dietary Restriction. C.C. Thomas, Springfield (1988)

132. T. A. Gresl, R. J. Colman, T. C. Havighurst, L. O. Byerley, D. B. Allison, D. A. Schoeller and J. W. Kemnitz: Insulin sensitivity and glucose effectiveness from three minimal models: effects of energy restriction and body fat in adult male rhesus monkeys. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.*, 285, R1340-1350 (2003)

133. N. Maswood, J. Young, E. Tilmon, Z. Zhang, D. Gash, G. Gerhard, R. Grondin, G. Roth, J. Mattison, M. Lane, R. Carson, R. Cohen, P. Mouton, C. Quigley, M. Mattson and D. Ingram: Caloric Restriction Increases Neurotrophic Factor Levels and Attenuates neurochemical and behavioral deficits in a primate model of Parkinson's disease. *PNAS*, 101(52), 18171-18176 (2004)

134. B. Monti and A. Contestabile: Selective alteration of DNA fragmentation and caspase activity in the spinal cord of aged rats and effect of dietary restriction. *Brain Res.*, 992(1), 137-141 (2003)

135. V. K. Halagappa, Z. Guo, M. Pearson, Y. Matsuoka, R. G. Cutler, F. M. Laferia and M. P. Mattson: Intermittent fasting and caloric restriction ameliorate age-related behavioral deficits in the triple-transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Dis.*, 26, 212-220 (2007)

136. Z. Yu and M. Mattson: Dietary restriction and 2deoxyglucose administration reduces focal ischemic brain damage and improve behavioral outcome: evidence for a preconditioning mechanism. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, 57, 830-839 (1999)

137. M. Mattson, R. Cutler and S. Camandola: Energy intake and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neuromolecular Med.*, 9, 17-20 (2007)

138. J. Galanaud, A. Elbaz, C. J, J. Videl, J. Corree, A. Alperovitch and C. Tzourio: Cigarette Smoking and Parkinson's Disease: A Case-Control Study in a Population Characterized by a High Prevalence of Pesticide Exposure. *Mov. Disord.*, 20(2), 181-189 (2005)

139. M. Quick: Smoking, nicotine, and Parkinson's disease. *Trends Neurosci.*, 27, 561-568 (2004)

140. M. B. Newman, G. Arendash, R. D. Shytle, P. Bickford, T. Tighe and P. R. Sanberg: Nicotine's oxidative and antioxidnat properties in CNS. *Life Sci.*, 71, 2807-2820 (2002)

141. M. Quick, N. Parameswaran, S. McCallum, T. Bordia, S. Bao, A. McCormack, A. Kim, R. F. Tyndale, J. W. Langston and D. A. Di Monte: Chronic oral nicotine treatment protects against striatal degeneration in MPTP-treated primates. *J. Neurochem.*, 98, 1866-1875 (2006)

142. M.J. O'Neill, T.K. Murray, V. Lakics, N.P. Visanji, and S. Duty: The role of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in acute and chronic neurodegeneration

143. H. Arai, T. Furuya, Y. Mizuno and H. Mochizuki: Inflammation and infection in Parkinson's disease. *Histol Histopathol.*, 6(673-678) (2006)

144. M. Asanuma and I. Miyazai: Common antiinflammatory drugs are potentially therapeutic for Parkinson's disease? *Exp Neurol.*, 206, 172-178 (2007)

145. E. Carrasco, D. Camper and P. Werner: Selective destruction of dopaminergic neurons by low concentrations of 6-OHDA and MPP+: protection by acetylsalicylic acid aspirin. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.*, 20, 1439-1448 (2005)

146. E. Esposito, V. Di Matteo, A. Benigno, M. Peirucci, G. Crescimanno and G. Giovanni: Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs in Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol.*, 205, 295-312 (2007)

147. R. Sanchez-Pernatue, A. Ferree and O. Cooper M. Yu, A.L. Brownell and O. Isacson: Selective COX-2 inhibition prevents progressive dopamine neuron degeneration in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *J Neuroinflammation*, 1, 6 (2004)

148. P. Teismann, K. Tieu, D. K. Choi, D. C. Wu, A. Naini, S. Hunot, V. Jackson-Lewis and S. Prezdborski: Cyclooxygenase-2 is instrumental in Parkinson's disease neurodegeneration. *PNAS*, 100, 5473-5478 (2003)

149. M. Hernan, G. Logroscino and G. R. LA: Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs and the Incidence of Parkinson's Disease. *Neurology*, 66, 1097-1099 (2006)

150. W. White: Cardiovascular risk, hypertension, and NSAIDs. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.*, 11(6), 428-435 (2007)

151. I. Bjarnason, J. Hayliar, A. MacPherson and A. Russell: Side effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on the small and large intestine humans. *Gastroenterology*, 104(6), 1832-1847 (1993)

152. D. C. Wu, V. Jackson-Lewis, M. Vila, K. Tieu, P. Teismann, C. Vadseth, D. K. Choi, H. Ischiropoulos and S. Przedborski: Blockade of microglial activation is neuroprotective in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson disease. *J. Neurosci.*, 22(5), 1763-1771 (2002)

153. K. Sriram, D. B. Miller and J. P. O'Callaghan: Minocycline attenuates microglial activation but fails to mitigate striatal dopaminergic neurotoxicity: Role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J. Neurochem*, 96, 706-718 (2006)

154. The NINDS NET-PD Investigators: A randomized, double-blind, futility clinical trial of creatine and minocycline in early Parkinson disease. *Neurology*, 66(626-627) (2006)

155. P.H. Gordon, D.H. Moore, R.G. Miller, J.M. Florence, J.L. Verheijde, C. Doorish, J.F. Hilton, G.M. Spitainy, R.B. MacArthur, H. Mitsumoto, K. Boy lan, T. Mozaffar, J.M. Belsh, J. Ravits, R.S. Bedlack, M.C. Graves, L.F. McCluskey, R.J. Barohn, and R. Tandan; Western ALS Study Group: Efficacy of minocycline in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase III randomized trial. *Lancet Neurol*, 6(12), 1045-1053 (2007)

156. R. L. Hunter, N. Dragicevic, K. Serifert, D. Y. Choi, M. Liu, H. Kim, W. A. Cass, P. G. Sullivan and G. Bing: Inflammation induced mitochondrial dysfunction and dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the nigrostriatal system. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 100(1375-1386) (2007)

157. M. Emborg: Activation of Nrf2 Neuroprotective Pathways for Parkinson's Disease. In: *The Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Research & The New York Academy of Sciences.* New York, NY (2007)

158. S. Singh, Y.K. Loke, and C.D. Furberg: Long-term risk of cardiovascular events with rosiglitazone: a metaanalysis. *JAMA*, 298(10), 1189-1195 (2007)

159. M. J. Eisenberg, A. Brox and A. Bestawros: Calcium Channel Blockers: An update. *Am J Med.*, 116(1), 35-43 (2004)

160. B. Ravina, F. SC, R. Hart, C. Hovinga, D. Murphy, T. M. Dawson and J. Marler: Neuroprotective agents for clinical trials in Pakinson's disease: a systematic assessment. *Neurology*, 60, 1234-1240 (2003)

161. D. J. Surmeier: Calcium, ageing, and neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol.*, 6, 933-938 (2007)

162. A. K. Stark and B. Pakkenberg: Histological changes of the dopaminergic nigrostriatal system of aging. *Cell Tissue Res*, 318, 81-92 (2004)

163. V. Glover, M. Sandler, F. Owen and G. J. Riley: Dopamine is a monoamine oxidase B substrate in Man. *Nature*, 265(5589), 80-81 (1977)

164. R. E. Heikkila, L. Manzino, F. S. Cabbat and R. C. Duvoisin: Protection against the dopaminergic neurotoxicity of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine by monoamine oxidase inhibitors. *Nature*, 311(5985), 467-469 (1984)

165. A. Rajput, T. A. Zesiewics and R. A. Hauser:

Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitors. In: *Parkinson's Disease: Clinical Diagnosis and Clinical Management.* Ed S. A. Factor&W. J. Weiner. Demos, New York (2008)

166. M. Ebadi, S. Sharma, S. Shavali and H. El Rafaey: Neuroprotective actions of selegiline. *J Neurosci Res.*, 67(3), 285-289 (2002)

167. Y. Akao, W. Maruyama, H. Yi, M. Shamoto-Nagai, M. B. Youdim and M. Naoi: An anti-Parkinson's disease drug, N-propargyl-1(R)-aminoindan (rasagiline), enhances expression of anti-apoptotic bcl-2 in human dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 326(2), 105-108 (2002)

168. W. Maruyama, Y. Akao, M. B. H. Youdim, B. A. Davis and M. Naoi: Transfection-enforced Bcl-2 overexpression and an anti-Parkinson drug, rasagiline, prevent nuclear accumulation of glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase induced by an endogenous dopaminergic neurotoxin, N-methyl(R)salsolinol. *J Neurochem.*, 78, 727-735 (2001)

169. J. J. Chen, D. M. Swope and K. Dashtipour: Comprehensive Review of Rasagiline, a Second-Generation Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitor, for the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease. *Clinical Therapeutics*, 29, 1825-1849 (2007)

170. M. Singh, N. Sumien, C. Kyser and J. W. Simpkins: Estrogens and progesterone as neuroprotectants: what animal models teach us. *Front. Biosci.*, 13, 1083-1089 (2008)

171. L. M. Shulman: Gender Differences in Parkinson's disease. *Gend Med*, 4(1), 8-18 (2007)

172. A. Eslamboli: Assessment of GDNF in primate models of Parkinson's disease: comparison with human studies. *Rev Neurosci.*, 16(4), 303-310 (2005)

173. A. Bjorklund, D. Kirik, C. Rosenbland, B. Goergievska, C. Lundberg and R. J. Mandel: Towards a neuroprotective gene therapy for Parkinson's disease: use of adenovirus, AAV and lentivirus vectors for gene transfer of GDNF to the nigrostriatal system in the rat Parkinson model. *Brain Res.*, 886(1-2), 82-98 (2000)

174. N. K. Patel and S. S. Gill: GDNF delivery for Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.*, 97, 135-154 (2007)

175. D. Kirk, B. Goergievska and L. Bjorklund: Localized striatal delivery of GDNF as a treatment for Parkinson disease. *Nat Neurosci.*, 7(2), 105-110 (2004)

176. M. Quartu, M. P. Serra, M. Boi, M. T. Ferretti, M. L. Lai and M. Del Fiacco: Tissue distribution of Ret, GRFalpha-1, GRFalpha-2, and GRFalpha-3 receptors in the human brainstem at fetal, neonatal, and adult age. *Brain Res.*, 1173, 36-52 (2007)

177. T. B. Sherer, B. K. Fiske, C. N. Svendsen, A. E.

Lang and J. W. Langston: Crossroads in GDNF therapy for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.*, 21(2), 136-141 (2006)

178. D. N. Hovland Jr., R. B. Boyd, M. T. Butt, J. A. Engelhardt, M. S. Moxness, M. H. Ma, M. G. Emery, N. B. Ernst, R. P. Reed, J. R. Zeller, D. M. Gash, D. M. Masterman, B. M. Potter, M. E. Cosenza and R. M. Lightfoot: Six-Month Continuous Intraputamenal Infusion Toxicity Study of Recombinant Methionyl Human Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (r-metHuGDNF) in Rhesus Monkeys. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 35, 676-692 (2007)

179. J. H. Kordower, C. D. Herzog, B. Dass, R. A. Bakay, J. Stansell 3rd, M. Gasmi and R. T. Bartus: Delivery of neurturin by AAV2 (CRE-120)-mediated gene transfer provides structural and functional neuroprotection and neurorestoration in MPTP-treated monkeys. *Ann Neurol*, 60(6), 706-715 (2006)

180. M. Gasmi, E. P. Brandon, C. D. Herzog, A. Wilson, K. M. Bishop, E. K. Hofer, J. J. Cunningham, M. A. Printz, J. H. Kordower and R. T. Bartus: AAV2-mediated delivery of human neurturin to the rat nigrostriatal system: long-term efficacy and tolerability of CERE-120 for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.*, 27(1), 67-76 (2007)

181. M. M. Bespalov and M. Saarma: GDNF family receptor complexes are emerging and drug targets. *TRENDS in Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 28(2), 68-74 (2007)

182. B. A. Horger, M. C. Nishimura, M. P. Armanini, L. Wang, K. T. Poulsen, C. Rosenbland, D. Kirik, B. Moffat, L. Simmons, E. Johnson Jr, J. Milbrandt, A. Rosenthal, A. Bjorklund, R. A. Vandlen, M. A. Hynes and H. S. Phillips: Neurturin Exerts Potent Actions on Survival and Function of Midbrain Dopaminergic Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(13), 4929-4937 (1998)

183. Ceregene: Randomized, Double-Blind, Sham Surgery-Controlled Study of CERE-120 (Adeno-Associated Virus Serotype 2 [AAV2]-Neurturin [NTN]) to Assess the Efficacy and Safety of Bilateral Intraputamenal (IPu) Delivery in Subjects with Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease. In: PD trials, (2007)

184. R. J. Boado, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. Wang and W. M. Pardridge: GDNF Fusion Protein for Targeted Drug Delivery Across the Human Blood-Brain Barrier. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, in press (2007)

185. J. S. Shneider: GM1 ganglioside in the treatment of Parkinson disease. *Ann NY Acad Sci.*, 845, 363-373 (1998)

186. M. E. Emborg and J. A. Columbo: Long-term MPTP-treated monkeys are resistant to GMI1 systemic therapy. *Mol Chem Neuropathol.*, 21(1), 75-82 (1994)

187. D. S. Rothblat and J. S. Shneider: Effects of GM1 ganglioside treatment on dopamine innervation of the striatum of MPTP-treated mice. *Ann NY Acad Sci.*, 845, 274-277 (1998)

188. B. G. Gold and J. G. Nutt: Neuroimmunophilin ligands in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.*, 2(1), 82-86 (2002)

189. A. H. Schapira: Neuroprotection in PD-a role for dopamine agonists? *Neurology*, 61(6 Suppl 3), S34-S42 (2003)

190. The Parkinson Study Group: Pramipexole vs levodopa as initial treatment for Parkinson disease: A randomized controlled trial. Parkinson Study Group. *JAMA*, 284(15), 1931-1938 (2000)

191. P. S. Group: Dopamine transporter brain imaging to assess the effects of pramipexole vs levodopa on Parkinson disease progression. *JAMA*, 287(13), 1653-1661 (2002)

192. A. L. Whone, R. L. Watts, A. J. Stoessl, M. Davis, S. Reske, C. Nahmias, A. E. Lang, O. Roscol, M. J. Ribeiro, P. Remy, W. H. Poewe, R. A. Hauser and D. J. Brooks: Slower progression of Parkinson's disease with ropinirole versus levodopa: The REAL-PET study. *Ann Neurol*, 54(1), 93-101 (2003)

193. K. M. Biglan and B. M. Ravina: Neuroprotection in Parkinson's Disease: An Elusive Goal. *Semin Neurol*, 27(2), 106-112 (2007)

194. E. Jequier: Pathways to obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord., 26, S12-S17 (2002)

Abbreviations: AD: Alzheimer's Disease, BDNF: Brainderived growth factor, CALM PD: comparison of the agonist pramipexole versus levodopa on motor complications of PD. CIT: [123] B-carbomethoxy-3-B-(4-iodophenyl)-tropane CoQ10: Coenzyme Q10, DA: dopamine, DATATOP: Deprenyl and Tocopherol Antioxidative Therapy of Parkinsonism , EL: Encephalitis lethargica, GDNF: Glialderived neurotrophic factor, HLA-DR: Human leukocyte antigen d-related, LRRK2: Leucine rich repeat kinase 2, LPS: Lipopolysaccharide, MAOB: monoamine oxidase B, MHC: Major histocompatibility complex, MPTP: 1-methyl-4 phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridinium, nACh: Nicotinic acetylcholine, NGF: Nerve growth factor, NSAIDS: Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs , PD: Parkinson's Disease, PEP: Postencephalitic parkinsonism , PET: positron emission PPAR-gamma: Peroxisome tomography, Proliferator Activated Receptor-gamma, SNpc: Substantia Nigra pars compacta, SPECT: single photon emission computed tomography, T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus, TH: Tyrosine hydroxylase, UPDRS: Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale, UPS: Ubiquitin-proteasome system, UA: Uric Acid

Key Words: Parkinson's Disease, NSAIDS, Aging, Antioxidants, Pesticides, Neuroprotection, Alpha Synuclein, Review **Send correspondence to:** Marina E. Emborg, Preclinical Parkinson's Research Program, Wisconsin National Primate Research Center, University of Wisconsin, Madison. 1223 Capitol Court, Madison, WI 53715, Tel: 608-262-9714, Fax: 608-263-3524, E-mail: emborg@primate.wisc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm